
            COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 
 

April 10, 2024 
7:00 PM at City of Taylor Mill Municipal Building (5225 Taylor Mill Road) 
 

CALL TO ORDER: 
 

INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Commissioner Murray 
 

MINUTES: Approval of Minutes from February 27, 2024 Special Caucus Meeting 

  Approval of Minutes from March 13, 2024 Commission Meeting 
  Approval of Minutes from March 27, 2024 Caucus Meeting 
  Approval of Minutes from April 8, 2024 Special Commission Meeting 
   

GUESTS:  

 

RESIDENT COMMENTS:  Residents shall sign in before the meeting and will have five (5) minutes to 

address the commission. 
 

LEGISLATION:   
Ordinance 394 (2nd Reading) – Approving Financing and General Obligation Lease Agreement for Bonding of 

Firehouse Project 
Ordinance 395 (2nd Reading) – General Lease Loan for Firehouse 
Resolution 382 – NKY Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:   
  

NEW BUSINESS:  
Discussion regarding potential donations to Pride Park Pavilion Construction.   
 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS:  City Administrator  Legal Counsel  

     City Treasurer   Parks and Recreation 
     Engineering   Police 
     Fire    Public Works 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS:  
Public Hearing with NKY Water District at Park Place Community Center on 4/23/24 6PM 
Special Commission Meeting on 4/24/24 at 10AM 
Commission Meeting on 5/8/2024 at 7PM 

 



 
 

MINUTES 



1 
 

Min022724 

 

City of Taylor Mill 

SPECIAL CAUCUS MEETING 

Wednesday, February 27, 2024 

 

CALL TO ORDER & WELCOME: 

Mayor Bell called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. and welcomed those in attendance. 

Mayor Daniel L. Bell, Commissioner Caroline Braden, Commissioner Ed Kuehne, Commissioner 

Dan Murray, City Administrative Officer Brian Haney, and City Attorney Jack Gatlin were in 

attendance. Commissioner Mark Kreimborg was absent. 

DISCUSSIONS: 

CAO Haney led the discussion regarding the interlocal agreement with the Housing Authority of 

Covington for HUD Administrations of the Housing Voucher Program. 

CAO Haney led the discussion regarding the amending the employee policy handbook in regards 

to the hiring and training reimbursement for the police cadets. 

CAO Haney provided an update regarding Duke Energy’s gas line and the presentation that will 

be conducted at the March 13, 2024 Commission Meeting. 

CAO Haney provided a new firehouse project update. 

CAO Haney led the discussion on 2024 Concrete Projects. 

CAO Haney led the discussion about the two ordinances regarding financing options. 

CAO Haney provided an update on the State-Right-of Way Application. 

CAO Haney led the discussion about zoning considerations as it relates to Medical Cannabis. 

CAO Haney led the discussion regarding the Republic Services bid extension for the waste 

collection. 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Bell called for a motion to adjourn. 

Commissioner Murray so moved, with a second from Commissioner Braden to adjourn the caucus 

meeting. Through a voice call vote, the motion pass with unanimous approval of the Commission, 

the time being 11:01 a.m. 



2 
 

MOTION PASSED 

The next Commission Meeting will be Wednesday, March 13, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. at the 

City of Taylor Mill Municipal Building located at 5225 Taylor Mill Road. 

APPROVED: 

 

______________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

 

 

_________________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk  

Date: _____________________ 



1 
 

Min031324 

 

City of Taylor Mill 

COMMISSION MEETING 

Wednesday, March 13, 2024 

 

CALL TO ORDER & WELCOME: 

Mayor Bell called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. and welcomed those in attendance. 

Mayor Daniel L. Bell, Commissioner Caroline Braden, Commissioner Kreimborg, Commissioner 

Ed Kuehne, Commissioner Dan Murray, City Administrative Officer Brian Haney, and City 

Attorney Jack Gatlin were in attendance. 

INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

Commissioner Kreimborg led the invocation followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.  

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

February 13, 2024, Special Commission Meeting 

 

Mayor Bell called for a motion to approve the February 13, 2024, Special Commission 

Meeting Minutes. Commissioner Kuehne so moved, with a second from Commissioner 

Kreimborg. The Commission approved by unanimous voice call vote.  

MOTION PASSED 

GUESTS:   

Mayor Bell invited Brad Seiter and Ken Muth with Duke Energy to come and make a 

presentation regarding the Duke Gas Line Project. 

Mayor Bell invited the public to come and speak.  

Michael Daniels of 3545 Saddlebrook Drive addressed the Commission. 

Stephen Demuth of 3553 Saddlebrook Drive addressed the Commission. 

Mike Blackburn of 707 Forest Lane addressed the Commission. 

Stu Bowns of 5400 Shadow Hill Court addressed the Commission. 

 

  



2 
 

LEGISLATION:   

 

Ordinance 394 (First Reading) 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL IN KENTON COUNTY, KENTUCKY 

APPROVING A LEASE AGREEMENT FOR THE FINANCING OF THE NEW FIREHOUSE 

PROJECT; PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE LEASE; 

ESTABLISHING A SINKING FUND; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 

VARIOUS DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE LEASE 

City Attorney Jack Gatlin provided the first reading of Ordinance 394 for a lease agreement 

with the Kentucky Bond Corporation to finance the new firehouse project. 

 

 

Ordinance 395 (First Reading) 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A LEASE 

AGREEMENT IN THE APPROXIMATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $2 MILLION FOR THE 

FINANCING OF THE COSTS OF THE NEW FIRE STATION CONSTRUCTION; PROVIDING 

FOR THE PAYMENT AND SECURITY OF THE LEASE AND DEPOSITS TO A SINKING 

FUND; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF VARIOUS DOCUMENTS RELATED TO 

SUCH LEASE; AND MAKING CERTAIN DESIGNATIONS REGARDING SUCH LEASE. 

City Attorney Jack Gatlin provided the first reading of Ordinance 395 for a lease agreement 

with Heritage Bank to finance the new firehouse project. 

 

 

Municipal Order 160 

 

A MUNICIPAL ORDER OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL IN KENTON COUNTY, 

KENTUCKY AMENDING THE POLICE CADET TRAINING REIMBURSEMENT IN 

THE EMPLOYEE POLICY HANDBOOK FOR THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 

City Jack Gatlin provided the reading of Municipal Order 160 to amend the Personnel 

Policy Handbook for the new police training reimbursement laws requiring cities in Kentucky to 

reimburse each other for costs associated with the hiring and training of a new police cadet. Mayor 

Bell called for a motion to approve the amendment to the Employee Policy Handbook. 

Commissioner Kreimborg made a motion with a second from Commissioner Braden. The City 

Clerk called the roll. The Commission approved by unanimously. 

 

MOTION PASSED 

  



3 
 

Resolution 380 

 

A MUNICIPAL ORDER OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL IN KENTON COUNTY, 

KENTUCKY TO AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN INTERLOCAL 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL AND THE HOUSING 

AUTHORITY OF COVINGTON RELATED TO THE HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHER 

PROGRAM 

City Jack Gatlin provided the reading of Resolution 380 to authorize and approve Mayor 

Bell to execute an interlocal agreement between the City of Taylor Mill and the Housing Authority 

of Covington related to the Housing Choice Voucher Program. Mayor Bell called for a motion to 

approve Resolution 380. Commissioner Kuehne made a motion with a second from Commissioner 

Murray. The Commission approved by unanimous vote. 

 

MOTION PASSED 

 

 

Resolution 381 

 

A MUNICIPAL ORDER OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL IN KENTON COUNTY, 

KENTUCKY AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN 

EXTENSION OF THE PREVIOUS BID FEES FOR TRASH AND RECYCLING 

SERVICES FOR RESIDENTIAL UNITS IN THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 

City Jack Gatlin provided the reading of Resolution 381 to authorize and approve Mayor 

Bell to execute an extension with Republic Services for the previously bid fees for trash and 

recycling services for residential units in the City. Mayor Bell called for a motion to approve 

Resolution 381. Commissioner Kreimborg made a motion with a second from Commissioner 

Murray. The Commission approved by unanimous vote. 

 

MOTION PASSED 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: CAO Brian Haney provided an update on the new fire station 

construction. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: None 

 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS 

 The Commission reviewed reports from the following staff members: City Administrator, 

Treasurer, Engineering, Fire/EMS, Legal Counsel, Parks and Recreation, Public Works, and 

Police.  

 



4 
 

There being no further business, Mayor Bell called for a motion to adjourn. Commissioner 

Kreimborg so moved, with a second from Commissioner Braden to adjourn the meeting. The 

motion passed with the unanimous approval of the Commission, the time being 8:08 p.m. 

                                                                                                                      MOTION PASSED 

The next Commission Meeting will be on Wednesday, April 10, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. at the 

City of Taylor Mill Municipal Building located at 5225 Taylor Mill Road. 

APPROVED: 

 

______________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

 

_________________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk  

Date: _____________________ 



1 
 

Min032724 

 

City of Taylor Mill 

CAUCUS MEETING 

Wednesday, March 27, 2024 

 

CALL TO ORDER & WELCOME: 

Mayor Bell called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. and welcomed those in attendance. 

Mayor Daniel L. Bell, Commissioner Caroline Braden, Commissioner Mark Kreimborg, 

Commissioner Ed Kuehne, Commissioner Dan Murray, City Administrative Officer Brian Haney, 

and City Attorney Jack Gatlin were in attendance.  

Commissioner Kreimborg led the discussion on whether or not the Commission should be 

having Caucus Meetings instead of another regularly scheduled Commission Meeting. 

DISCUSSIONS: 

CAO Haney led the discussion on ditches. 

CAO led the discussion on a flagpole and sign in the location of the business district. 

CAO provided an update of the NKY Water District Public Hearing on April 23rd. 

CAO requested the Commission provide him with any budget requests that they may have. 

CAO provided the Commission with the budget timeline. 

CAO provided an update regarding Scott High School SRO. 

CAO advised Commission that Chief Mills will be providing findings from the survey. 

CAO provided an update on Park Stage. 

CAO provided an update on the concrete work that will begin April 1st. 

Commissioner Braden discussed the goals to replace Park Equipment. Commissioner Braden did 

not see the need to schedule a Volunteer Day at the Park. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Bell called for a motion to adjourn. 

Commissioner Kreimborg so moved, with a second from Commissioner Braden to adjourn the 



2 
 

caucus meeting. Through a voice call vote, the motion pass with unanimous approval of the 

Commission, the time being 11:05 a.m. 

MOTION PASSED 

The next Special Commission Meeting will be Monday, April 8, 2024, at 10:00 a.m. and 

the Commission Meeting will be on Wednesday, April 10, 2024 at 7:00 p.m. Both meetings will 

be held at the City of Taylor Mill Municipal Building located at 5225 Taylor Mill Road. 

APPROVED: 

 

______________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

_________________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk  

Date: _____________________ 



1 
 

Min040824 

 

City of Taylor Mill 

SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 

Monday, April 8, 2024 

 

CALL TO ORDER & WELCOME: 

Mayor Bell called the meeting to order at 10:01 a.m. and welcomed those in attendance. 

Mayor Daniel L. Bell, Commissioner Caroline Braden, Commissioner Ed Kuehne, Commissioner 

Dan Murray, City Administrative Officer Brian Haney, and City Attorney Jack Gatlin were in 

attendance. Commissioner Mark Kreimborg was absent.  

NEW BUSINESS: 

Mayor Bell called for a motion to approve the new firehouse project to bid. Commissioner Murray 

so moved, with a second from Commissioner Braden. The Commission approved by unanimous 

vote. 

MOTION PASSED 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Bell called for a motion to adjourn. 

Commissioner Murray so moved, with a second from Commissioner Kuehne to adjourn the special 

meeting. The motion passed with the unanimous approval of the Commission, the time being 10:07 

a.m. 

MOTION PASSED 

The next Commission Meeting will be Wednesday, April 10, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. at the City 

of Taylor Mill Municipal Building located at 5225 Taylor Mill Road. 

APPROVED: 

 

______________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

 

 

_________________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk  

Date: _____________________ 



 
 

LEGISLATION 



ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY APPROVING 

A LEASE AGREEMENT FOR THE FINANCING OF A PROJECT; PROVIDING 

FOR THE PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE LEASE; ESTABLISHING 

A SINKING FUND; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF VARIOUS 

DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE LEASE. 

WHEREAS, as provided by Sections 65.940 to 65.956, inclusive, of the Kentucky Revised 

Statutes, the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the 

Commonwealth of Kentucky (the “Lessee”), has the power to enter into lease agreements with any 

person, with or without the option to purchase, in order to provide for the use of property for public 

purposes; and 

WHEREAS, the Lessee has found and determined, and hereby further finds and determines, 

that the Lessee is in need of the Project, as defined in the hereinafter described Lease; and 

WHEREAS, the Lessee has found and determined, and hereby further finds and determines, 

that it will be in the best interests of the Lessee to enter into a Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) with 

the Kentucky Bond Corporation, a nonprofit corporation incorporated and existing under the laws of 

the Commonwealth of Kentucky (the “Lessor”), for the leasing by the Lessee from the Lessor of the 

Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY, 

AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Affirmation of Recitals. It is hereby found, determined, and declared that the 

facts, declarations, and definitions set forth in the recitals of this Ordinance are all true and correct, 

and such facts, declarations, and definitions are hereby affirmed, adopted, and incorporated as a part 

of this Ordinance, and all acts described in the recitals of this Ordinance are hereby ratified. 

Section 2. Approval, Authorization, Necessity, and Purpose of the Lease. The Lessee 

hereby approves the Lease, in substantially the form presented to the Lessee. It is hereby found and 

determined that the Project identified in the Lease is property to be used for public purposes. It is 

hereby further found and determined that it is necessary and desirable and in the best interests of the 

Lessee to enter into the Lease for the purposes specified therein, and the execution and delivery of 

the Lease by the Lessee and all of the representations, certifications, and other matters contained in 

the documents to be executed and delivered in connection with the Lease, or as may be required by 

the Lessor before the delivery of the Lease, are hereby approved, ratified, and confirmed. The Mayor 

and the City Clerk of the Lessee are each hereby authorized to execute, in the name and on behalf of 

the Lessee, the Lease and any other documents, agreements, or certifications that may be necessary 

in order to accomplish the transaction contemplated by the Lease. 

Section 3. General Obligation Pledge. In accordance with the Constitution and laws of 

the Commonwealth of Kentucky, including, particularly, Sections 66.011 to 66.191, inclusive, of the 

Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended (the “General Obligation Act”), the obligation of the Lessee 

to pay the Lease Rental Payments under (and as defined in) the Lease shall constitute a full general 

obligation of the Lessee, and the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the Lessee are hereby pledged 

kwebb
Typewritten Text
394

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text



2 

for the prompt payment of such Lease Rental Payments. During the period the Lease is outstanding, 

there shall be and there hereby is levied, annually, on all taxable property in the Lessee, in addition 

to all other taxes, without limitation as to rate, a direct tax in an amount sufficient to pay such Lease 

Rental Payments as and when due and payable, it being hereby found and determined that the current 

tax rates of the Lessee are within all applicable limitations. The tax shall be, and hereby is, ordered 

to be computed, certified, levied, and extended upon the tax duplicate, and shall be collected by the 

same officers, in the same manner, and at the same time that taxes for general purposes for each of 

the years are certified, extended, and collected. The tax shall be placed before and in preference to 

all other items and for the full amount thereof; provided, however, that in each year, to the extent that 

any other lawfully available funds of the Lessee are available for the payment of such Lease Rental 

Payments and are appropriated for such purpose, the amount of such tax on all taxable property in the 

Lessee shall be reduced by the amount of such other funds so available and appropriated. 

Section 4. Establishment of Sinking Fund. There is hereby established a Sinking Fund 

for the Lessee (the “Sinking Fund”), which shall be continued and maintained as long as the Lease is 

outstanding. The funds derived from the tax levy required by Section 3 hereof and any other lawfully 

available funds of the Lessee shall be deposited into the Sinking Fund and, together with the interest 

collected on the same, are hereby irrevocably pledged for the payment of the principal of and interest 

on all bonds issued by the Lessee under the General Obligation Act and all Tax-Supported Leases, 

as defined in the General Obligation Act, including the Lease, as and when the same become due and 

payable. The Lessee shall transfer the funds on deposit in the Sinking Fund to the Lessor at the times 

and in the amounts required by Section 9 of the Lease. 

Section 5. Severability. If any section, paragraph, or provision of this Ordinance shall 

be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the 

invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any remaining 

sections, paragraphs, or provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 6. Open Meetings Compliance. The Lessee hereby finds and determines that all 

formal actions relating to the adoption of this Ordinance and the execution and delivery of the Lease 

were taken in open meetings of the Board of Commissioners of the Lessee, and that all deliberations 

of the Board of Commissioners of the Lessee and of its committees, if any, which resulted in such 

formal actions were held in meetings open to the public, in full compliance with all applicable legal 

requirements, including Sections 61.810 to 61.850, inclusive, of the Kentucky Revised Statutes. 

Section 7. Conflicts. All prior ordinances, resolutions, or orders of the Lessee, or parts 

thereof, that conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby 

repealed, and the provisions of this Ordinance shall prevail and be given effect. 

Section 8. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon the 

adoption and publication of a summary hereof, as provided by law. 

[Signature page to follow]



S-1 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO ORDINANCE

INTRODUCED, SECONDED, AND ADOPTED, at a duly convened meeting of the Board 

of Commissioners of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky held on _______________________, 20__, 

after first reading held on _______________________, 20__, signed by the Mayor, attested by the City 

Clerk, and filed and indexed as provided by law. 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY 

By:  

Mayor 

Attest:  

By:  

City Clerk 

CERTIFICATION 

I, the undersigned, hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of the 

City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky, and as City Clerk, I hereby further certify that the foregoing is a true, 

correct, and complete copy of an Ordinance duly adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the City 

at a duly convened meeting held on ____________________, 20__, signed by the Mayor, and duly 

filed, recorded, and indexed in my office and now in full force and effect, and that all action taken 

by the City in connection with the Ordinance was in compliance with all applicable requirements of 

the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, all as appears from the official records of the City in 

my possession and under my control. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this ___________________, 20__. 

City Clerk 

kwebb
Typewritten Text
Daniel L. Bell, Mayor

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text
Kristy Webb, City Clerk

kwebb
Typewritten Text



SUMMARY OF ORDINANCE 

At meetings held on [First Reading Date], and [Adoption Date], the Board of 

Commissioners of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky (referred to herein as the “Lessee”) adopted 

an ordinance (the “Ordinance”) titled as follows: 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY APPROVING 

A LEASE AGREEMENT FOR THE FINANCING OF A PROJECT; PROVIDING 

FOR THE PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE LEASE; ESTABLISHING 

A SINKING FUND; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF VARIOUS 

DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE LEASE. 

The Ordinance provides for the approval of a lease agreement (the “Lease”) to be entered 

into by the Lessee and the Kentucky Bond Corporation (the “Lessor”) for the purpose of financing 

certain public improvements for the Lessee. The Ordinance also contains provisions providing for 

(i) a general obligation pledge of the Lessee to levy and assess sufficient taxes to comply with its 

obligation to pay lease rental payments to the Lessor under the Lease, and (ii) the creation of a sinking 

fund to be pledged as further security for the payment of such lease rental payments and certain 

other obligations of the Lessee. As required by KRS Section 83A.060, the section of the Ordinance 

relating to the Lessee’s pledge to levy and assess a tax to pay the obligations under the Lease is set 

forth in its entirety: 

“Section 3. General Obligation Pledge. In accordance with the 

Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, including, particularly, 

Sections 66.011 to 66.191, inclusive, of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended 

(the “General Obligation Act”), the obligation of the Lessee to pay the Lease Rental 

Payments under (and as defined in) the Lease shall constitute a full general 

obligation of the Lessee, and the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the Lessee 

are hereby pledged for the prompt payment of such Lease Rental Payments. During 

the period the Lease is outstanding, there shall be and there hereby is levied, 

annually, on all taxable property in the Lessee, in addition to all other taxes, without 

limitation as to rate, a direct tax in an amount sufficient to pay such Lease Rental 

Payments as and when due and payable, it being hereby found and determined that 

the current tax rates of the Lessee are within all applicable limitations. The tax shall 

be, and hereby is, ordered to be computed, certified, levied, and extended upon the 

tax duplicate, and shall be collected by the same officers, in the same manner, and 

at the same time that taxes for general purposes for each of the years are certified, 

extended, and collected. The tax shall be placed before and in preference to all other 

items and for the full amount thereof; provided, however, that in each year, to the 

extent that any other lawfully available funds of the Lessee are available for the 

payment of such Lease Rental Payments and are appropriated for such purpose, the 

amount of such tax on all taxable property in the Lessee shall be reduced by the 

amount of such other funds so available and appropriated.” 

The undersigned, as the City Clerk of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky, hereby certifies 

that the Ordinance summarized herein was approved by the Board of Commissioners of the Lessee 

for first reading on [First Reading Date], and for second reading on [Adoption Date], and was 



further approved for publication following adoption, according to law. A complete copy of the 

Ordinance may be reviewed at the office of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky. 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY 

By: /s/ Kristy Webb

City Clerk 

CERTIFICATION 

The undersigned, an attorney licensed to practice law in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, 

hereby certifies that the foregoing Notice of Adoption and Summary of Ordinance of the City of 

Taylor Mill, Kentucky, was prepared by the undersigned and constitutes a general summary of the 

essential provisions of such Ordinance, reference to the full text of which is hereby made for a 

complete statement of its provisions and terms. 

/s/ Callie A. Kidwell, Esq. 

Dinsmore & Shohl LLP 

Louisville, Kentucky 



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 395 (TBD) 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF 
A LEASE AGREEMENT IN THE APPROXIMATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT 
OF $2 MILLION FOR THE FINANCING OF THE COSTS OF THE FIRE 
STATION CONSTRUCTION; PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT AND 
SECURITY OF THE LEASE AND DEPOSITS TO A SINKING FUND; 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF VARIOUS DOCUMENTS 
RELATED TO SUCH LEASE; AND MAKING CERTAIN DESIGNATIONS 
REGARDING SUCH LEASE. 

WHEREAS, the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky (the “City”), a municipal corporation and 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Kentucky (the “Commonwealth”) has the power, 

pursuant to Section 65.940 et seq. of the Kentucky Revised Statutes (the “Act”) to enter into 

lease agreements with or without the option to purchase in order to provide for the use of the 

property for public purposes; 

WHEREAS, this City Commission (the “Governing Body”) has determined the 

necessity of financing the costs of the FIRE STATION CONSTRUCTION (the “Project”), as 

further defined in the Lease hereinafter described; 

WHEREAS, this Governing Body has determined that it is in the best interests of the 

City that the City enter into a Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) in an approximate principal 

amount of $2 Million, with Heritage Bank, Inc. (the “Lessor”) for the purposes of financing of 

the Project and the leasing the Project from the Lessor of the Project; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Recitals and Authorization. The City, as lessee, hereby approves the Lease 

Agreement (the “Lease”) in the principal amount of approximately $2 Million, and all Collateral 

Documents, as defined in the Lease, each in substantially the form described to this Governing 

Body. The recitals to this Ordinance are incorporated herein as if set forth in this Section in their 



 2  

entirety and are hereby found and determined to be true and correct. It is hereby found and 

determined that the Project identified in the Lease is public property to be used for public 

purposes, that it is necessary and desirable and in the best interests of the City to enter into the 

Lease for the purposes therein specified, and the execution and delivery of the Lease and all 

representations, certifications, and other matters contained in the closing memorandum with 

respect to the Lease, or as may be required by Dinsmore & Shohl LLP, as Bond Counsel, prior to 

delivery of the Lease, are hereby approved, ratified, and confirmed. The Mayor and the City 

Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the Lease, together with such other agreements or 

certifications which may be necessary to accomplish the transaction contemplated by the Lease. 

Section 2. General Obligation Pledge. Pursuant to the Constitution of the 

Commonwealth and Chapter 66 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended (the “Act”), the 

obligation of the City created by the Lease shall be a full general obligation of the City and, for 

the prompt payment of the Lease Payments, as defined in the Lease, the full faith, credit and 

taxing power of the City are hereby pledged. During the period the Lease is outstanding, there 

shall be and there hereby is levied on all the taxable property in the City, in addition to all other 

taxes, without limitation as to rate, a direct tax annually in an amount sufficient to pay the Lease 

Payments on the Lease when and as due, it being hereby found and determined that current tax 

rates are within all applicable limitations. Said tax shall be and is hereby ordered computed, 

certified, levied, and extended upon the tax duplicate and collected by the same officers in the 

same manner and at the same time that taxes for general purposes for each of the years are 

certified, extended, and collected. The tax shall be placed before and in preference to all other 

items and for the full amount thereof; provided, however, that in each year to the extent that the 

other taxes or revenues of the City are available for the payment of the Lease Payments and are 

appropriated for such purpose, the amount of such direct tax upon all of the taxable property in 



 3  

the City shall be reduced by the amount of such other taxes or revenues so available and 

appropriated. 

Section 3. Sinking Fund. It is acknowledged that there has heretofore been established, 

with the Lessee, a sinking fund (the “Sinking Fund”) with the City in accordance with the 

requirements of the Act, which is hereby ordered to be continued and maintained as long as the 

Lease shall remain outstanding. The funds derived from said tax levy hereby required or other 

available taxes shall be placed in the Sinking Fund and, together with interest collected on the 

same, are irrevocably pledged for the payment of the interest on a principal of all obligations 

issued under the Act and all Tax-Supported Leases, as defined in the Act, including the Lease, 

when and as the same fall due. 

Section 4. Expectation Regarding the Lease. The City, by the adoption of this 

Ordinance, certifies that it does not reasonably anticipate that less than 95% of the proceeds of 

the Lease will be used for “local government activities” of the City or that the aggregate face 

amount of all tax-exempt obligations issued by the City (including all subordinate entities of the 

City) during calendar year 2024 will exceed $5,000,000. 

Section 5. Issuance Limitation. In compliance with the requirements of Section 

265(b)(3) of the Code, the City hereby represents that the City (including all “subordinate 

entities” of the City within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code) reasonably anticipates 

that it will not issue in the calendar year 2024, “qualified tax-exempt obligations”, in an amount 

greater than $10,000,000. 

Section 6. Designation of the Lease as Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation. Pursuant to 

Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), the City hereby 

specifically designates the Lease as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation.” 

Section 7. Severability. If any Section, paragraph or provision of this Ordinance shall be 

held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of such 



 4  

Section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this 

Ordinance. 

Section 8. Open Meetings Law. This Governing Body hereby finds and determines that 

all formal actions relative to the adoption this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this 

Governing Body, and that all deliberations of this Governing Body and of its committees, if any, 

which resulted in formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in full compliance with 

applicable legal requirements. 

Section 9. Conflicts. All ordinances, resolutions, orders, or parts thereof in conflict with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed and the 

provisions of this Ordinance shall prevail and be given effect. 

Section 10. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall take effect from and after its passage 

and publication of the Summary, as provided by law. The publication of the Summary attached 

as Exhibit A hereto, is hereby approved and ordered to be published, as provided by law. 

INTRODUCED AND PUBLICLY READ ON FIRST READING on the ____ day of 
____________, 2024. 

 
PUBLICLY READ, ADOPTED, AND APPROVED ON SECOND READING, this 

the ____ day of ____________, 2024. 
 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY 

 
By: 

DANIEL L. BELL, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: 
Kristy Webb, City Clerk 

 



 5  

CERTIFICATION 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of 

the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky, and as such City Clerk, I further certify that the foregoing is a 

true, correct, and complete copy of an Ordinance duly enacted by the City Commission of the 

City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky at a duly convened meeting held on the ___ day of 

_____________, 2024, on the same occasion signed by the Mayor as evidence of their approval, 

and now in full force and effect, all as appears from the official records of the City in my 

possession and under my control. 

Witness my hand as City Clerk of said City as of the ___ day of ______________, 2024. 

 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

SUMMARY OF ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

The City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky (the “City”), at a meeting held on ________ ___, 
2024, adopted the following ordinance: 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR 
MILL, KENTUCKY APPROVING A LEASE WITH HERITAGE BANK, INC. 
FOR THE FINANCING OF A PUBLIC PROJECT IN AN APPROXIMATE 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $2 MILLION; PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT 
AND SECURITY OF THE LEASE AND DEPOSITS TO A SINKING FUND 
AS SECURITY FOR THE LEASE; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 
VARIOUS DOCUMENTS RELATED TO SUCH LEASE; AND, MAKING 
CERTAIN DESIGNATIONS REGARDING SUCH LEASE. 
 
It is hereby certified that the foregoing Ordinance provides for approval of a lease with 

Heritage Bank, Inc. to finance the costs of FIRE STATION CONSTRUCTION; provides a 
general obligation pledge to assess sufficient taxes to comply with the obligations to pay lease 
payments; contains additional sections relating to designation as a qualified tax-exempt 
obligation, expectations regarding the lease, severability, inconsistent actions, open meetings, 
laws, and effective date. The full text of the section relating to the pledge to levy and assess a tax 
to pay the lease obligation is: 

 
 “Section 2. General Obligation Pledge. Pursuant to the Constitution of the 

Commonwealth and Chapter 66 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended (the “General 
Obligation Statutes”), the obligation of the City created by the Lease shall be a full general 
obligation of the City and, for the payment of the Lease Payments, the full faith, credit and 
revenue of the City are hereby pledged for the prompt payment thereof. During the period the 
Lease is outstanding, there shall be and there hereby is levied on all the taxable property in the 
City, in addition to all other taxes, without limitation as to rate, a direct tax annually in an 
amount sufficient to pay the Lease Payments on the Lease when and as due, it being hereby 
found and determined that current tax rates are within all applicable limitations. Said tax shall be 
and is hereby ordered computed, certified, levied and extended upon the tax duplicate and 
collected by the same officers in the same manner and at the same time that taxes for general 
purposes for each of said years are certified, extended and collected. Said tax shall be placed 
before and in preference to all other items and for the full amount thereof provided, however, 
that in each year to the extent that the other taxes or revenues of the City are available for the 
payment of the Lease Payments and are appropriated for such purpose, the amount of such direct 
tax upon all of the taxable property in the City shall be reduced by the amount of such other 
taxes or revenues so available and appropriated. 
 

 There is hereby established, or it is acknowledged that there has heretofore been 
established, with the Lessee a sinking fund (the “Sinking Fund”), which is ordered to be 
continued and maintained as long as the Lease shall remain outstanding. The funds derived from 
said tax levy hereby required or other lawfully available funds shall be placed in the Sinking 
Fund and, together with interest collected on the same, are irrevocably pledged for the payment 
of the interest on and principal of all obligations issued under the Act and all Tax-Supported 
Leases, as defined in the Act, including the Lease herein authorized, when and as the same fall 



 7  

due. Amounts shall be transferred from the Sinking Fund to the Lessor at the times and in the 
amounts required by the Lease.” 

 
A complete copy of the ordinance may be reviewed at the office of the City Clerk, City of 

Taylor Mill, Kentucky. 
 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY 

By: /s/ 
Kristy Webb, City Clerk 

 

15655437.1 



    2024‐R‐382 

Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 
 

April 10, 2024 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY, ADOPTING 
THE NORTHERN KENTUCKY REGIONAL HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN, 2024 

WHEREAS, the City of Taylor Mill recognizes the threat that natural hazards pose to 
people and property within the City of Taylor Mill; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Taylor Mill has prepared a multi-hazard mitigation plan, hereby 
known as the Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mitigation Plan, 2024, in accordance with 
federal laws, including the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, as 
amended; the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, as amended; and the National Dam Safety 
Program Act, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mitigation Plan, 2024 identifies 
mitigation goals and actions to reduce or eliminate long-term risk to people and property in the 
City of Taylor Mill from the impacts of future hazards and disasters; and 

WHEREAS, adoption by the City of Taylor Mill demonstrates its commitment to hazard 
mitigation and achieving goals outlined in the Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mitigation 
Plan, 2024. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, 
KENTON COUNTY, KENTUCKY, THAT: 

Section 1. The City of Taylor Mill adopts the Northern Kentucky Regional Mitigation Plan, 2024. 
While content related to the City of Taylor Mill may require revisions to meet the plan approval 
requirements, changes occurring after adoption will not require the City of Taylor Mill to re-adopt 
any further iterations of the plan. Subsequent plan updates following the approval period for this 
plan will require separate adoption resolutions. 

On motion of Commissioner _________________, seconded by Commissioner 
_________________, that the foregoing Resolution be adopted, the vote was called. On roll call 
the vote stood: 

Commissioner Braden: _____   Commissioner Murray: _____ 
Commissioner Kreimborg: _____  Mayor Bell: _____ 
Commissioner Kuehne: _____ 
 



    2024‐R‐382 

Page 2 of 2 
 

INTRODUCED, PUBLICLY READ, AND FINALLY APPROVED ONE READING, this 
10th day of April 2024. 
 
 

_________________________________  
Daniel L. Bell, Mayor  
 
Date: _____________ 
 
 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Kristy Webb, City Clerk 



2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 1 

 
 

2024 NORTHERN KENTUCKY REGIONAL HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 

PLAN OVERVIEW AND SAMPLE ADOPTION RESOLUTION 

CONTENTS 
Introduc�on .................................................................................................................................................. 1 

Background ................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Summary of Plan ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

Element A – Planning Process ................................................................................................................... 3 

Element B – Risk Assessment .................................................................................................................... 4 

Element C – Mi�ga�on Strategy ............................................................................................................... 5 

Element D – Plan Maintenance ................................................................................................................. 5 

Element E – Plan Update ........................................................................................................................... 5 

Element F – Plan Adop�on ........................................................................................................................ 6 

Element G – High Hazard Poten�al Dams ................................................................................................. 8 

Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan FAQ .......................................................................... 10 

Sample Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan Resolu�on ................................................................................................. 11 

 

INTRODUCTION 
FEMA requires each jurisdic�on included in the regional hazard mi�ga�on plan to adopt the plan. Since 
the early 2000s, Northern Kentucky jurisdic�ons have submited their hazard mi�ga�on plan as a mul�-
jurisdic�onal region hazard mi�ga�on plan, with the NKADD leading the efforts to gather community 

input, write the report, and work towards ge�ng the plan adopted. NKADD staff created this plan 

adop�on packet to inform ci�es and coun�es about the updated 2024 Northern Kentucky Regional 

Hazard Mi�ga�on plan and assist them in the adop�on process. The updated plan can be viewed at 

htps://www.nkadd.org/hazard-mi�ga�on-planning/.  

FEMA approved a new Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan policy in 2022, and it was enacted in 2023. The Northern 

Kentucky Regional Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan follows the requirements outlined in the new policy. The new 

policy differs from the previous policy in two ways. It requires par�cipa�on from each jurisdic�on in the 

region. The regional plan includes 60 jurisdic�ons in Northern Kentucky, and each jurisdic�on must 

https://www.nkadd.org/hazard-mitigation-planning/


2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 2 

approve the plan. The policy also allows two methods for jurisdic�onal resolu�on approval: all adop�on 

resolu�ons submited with the plan and approvable pending adop�on (explained later in the document). 

The approval adop�on process op�on for the 2024 Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan.  

Hazard Mi�ga�on planning is the founda�on for guiding risk reduc�on investments. These investments 

build community resilience to future natural hazard events. The local mi�ga�on planning process brings 

partners together to inform a risk reduc�on strategy that can be implemented using a wide range of 

public and private resources. Local mi�ga�on plans demonstrate the commitment to mi�ga�on across 

mul�ple sectors, such as Infrastructure and economic development, to reduce natural hazard risk.  

Community resilience is the ability of a community to prepare for an�cipated hazards, adapt to changing 

condi�ons, and withstand and recover rapidly from disrup�ons. Ac�vi�es such as disaster preparedness 

(which includes preven�on, protec�on, mi�ga�on, response, and recovery) and reducing community 

stressors (the underlying social, economic, and environmental condi�ons that can weaken a community) 

are cri�cal steps to resilience. 

BACKGROUND 
The local mi�ga�on plan guides risk-informed decision-making at the local level. Local governments, 

including special districts, can use the mi�ga�on plan to guide climate adapta�on, resilience, land use, 

and economic development planning. Local hazard mi�ga�on plans form the founda�on of a 

community's long-term strategy to reduce disaster losses and break the cycle of disaster damage, 

reconstruc�on, and repe��ve damage. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) supports 

local mi�ga�on planning to achieve the following:  

• Foster partnerships among all levels of government.  
• Develop and strengthen non-governmental and private partnerships.  
• Promote more disaster-resilient and sustainable communities.  
• Reduce the costs associated with disaster response and recovery by promoting mitigation activities.  
 

Local jurisdic�ons are responsible for ensuring that the plan’s mi�ga�on strategy complies with all 
applicable legal requirements related to civil rights to ensure nondiscrimina�on. Such compliance can 

help achieve equitable outcomes through the mi�ga�on planning process for all communi�es, including 

underserved communi�es1 and socially vulnerable popula�ons. 

FEMA defines equity as the consistent and systema�c fair, just and impar�al treatment of all individuals. 

Equity must be central in its development to ensure that the planning process and outcomes of the local 

mi�ga�on plan benefit the whole community. Inclusive planning processes take �me, and though�ul 

planning needs to be set up to provide everyone with the resources necessary to par�cipate 

meaningfully, make progress, and benefit from hazard mi�ga�on. Equity is not just an important 

 
1 Execu�ve Order 13985 On Advancing Racial Equity and Support for Underserved Communi�es Through the Federal 
Government defines “underserved communi�es” as “popula�ons sharing a par�cular characteris�c, as well as geographic 
communi�es, that have been systema�cally denied a full opportunity to par�cipate in aspects of economic, social, and civic 
life…” 
 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/01/20/executive-order-advancing-racial-equity-and-support-for-underserved-communities-through-the-federal-government/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/01/20/executive-order-advancing-racial-equity-and-support-for-underserved-communities-through-the-federal-government/


2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 3 

principle; it is essen�al to reducing risk to the whole community,2 par�cularly for those who face barriers 

to accessing assistance and for popula�ons that are dispropor�onately affected by disasters. The en�re 
community includes individuals and communi�es, the private and nonprofit sectors, faith-based 

organiza�ons, and all levels of government (regional/metropolitan, state, local, tribal, territorial, insular 

area and federal). The mi�ga�on plan is an opportunity to counter some of those barriers and 

inten�onally plan for reducing the risk to all communi�es. 

Climate change increases the frequency, dura�on, and intensity of natural hazards, such as wildfires, 

extreme heat, drought, storms, heavy precipita�on, and sea level rise. Communi�es are feeling the 

impacts of a changing climate now.3 Many of these trends will likely con�nue for decades.4 These 

varia�ons create new risks to state and local governments and challenge pre-exis�ng mi�ga�on plans. 

They also pose a unique threat to the na�on's most at-risk popula�ons by exacerba�ng the impacts of 
disasters on underserved and socially vulnerable popula�ons who already experience the most 

significant losses from natural hazards. 

Many states and communi�es have been planning for climate change through climate adapta�on efforts. 
According to the Na�onal Climate Assessment, climate adapta�on refers to “ac�ons taken at the 

individual, local, regional, and na�onal levels to reduce risks from even today’s changed climate 

condi�ons and to prepare for impacts from addi�onal changes projected for the future.”5 While climate 

adapta�on efforts may be undertaken separately or in addi�on to the all-hazards mi�ga�on planning 
process, hazard mi�ga�on and climate adapta�on are complementary efforts with the same goal: long-
term risk reduc�on for people and increased safety for communi�es. The key difference between hazard 
mi�ga�on and climate adapta�on is that hazard mi�ga�on encompasses all natural hazards, including 

short-term, episodic events that may or may not be connected to climate change. Climate adapta�on 

efforts and plans are focused on reducing the risk to and mi�ga�ng impacts from actual or expected 

causes of climate change. As natural disasters cross geographic boundaries and increase in frequency 

and intensity, the need to support intersec�ng plans is more significant than ever. Adap�ng to the 
expected impacts of climate change is a form of hazard mi�ga�on. A hazard mi�ga�on plan that 

addresses climate change in its risk assessment and includes adapta�on ac�ons in its mi�ga�on strategy 
may reduce risk to current and future events. 

SUMMARY OF PLAN 

ELEMENT A – PLANNING PROCESS 

The planning process sec�on of the mi�ga�on plan documents how the plan was developed, who was 
involved and what data and informa�on were used to build or update the plan. A successful planning 

effort includes ac�ve par�cipa�on and buy-in from community leaders, stakeholders, and the public. The 

 
2 Na�onal Preparedness Goal, Second Edi�on, 2015 
3 U.S. Global Change Research Program, Fourth Na�onal Climate Assessment, Volume II: Impacts, Risks, and Adapta�on in the 
United States, 2018. 
4 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, The Physical Science Basis. Contribu�on of Working Group 1 to the Sixth 
Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2021. 
5 U.S. Global Change Research Program, Fourth Na�onal Climate Assessment, Chapter 28: Reducing Risks through Adapta�on 

Ac�ons, 2018. 

https://www.fema.gov/emergency-managers/national-preparedness/goal
https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/
https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/
https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/
https://www.ipcc.ch/report/sixth-assessment-report-working-group-i/
https://www.ipcc.ch/report/sixth-assessment-report-working-group-i/


2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 4 

Na�onal Mi�ga�on Framework emphasizes the valuable role of collabora�on among various sectors to 
ensure that mi�ga�on capabili�es con�nue to grow and that comprehensive mi�ga�on includes 

strategies for all community sectors. Examples of sectors with mi�ga�on capabili�es are those agencies 

and stakeholders responsible for: 

• Emergency management. 
• Economic development. 
• Land use and development. 
• Housing. 
• Health and social services. 
• Infrastructure (including transportation and other community lifelines). 
• Natural and cultural resources. 
 

In addi�on, FEMA’s Na�onal Response Framework, 4th Edi�on, iden�fies cri�cal community lifelines, 
which are the most fundamental services in the community that, when stabilized, enable all other 

aspects of society to func�on. Community lifelines include the following: 

• Safety and Security. 
• Food, Water, Shelter. 
• Health and Medical. 
• Energy. 
• Communications. 
• Transportation. 
• Hazardous Material. 
 

Efforts to mi�gate poten�al impacts to community lifelines are key to building resilience. These 

community lifelines connect to the sectors in the Na�onal Mi�ga�on Framework and the Recovery 

Support Func�ons under the Na�onal Disaster Recovery Framework; the same agencies and 

departments that support these sectors also o�en support community lifelines and the recovery mission. 

Involving members from these key sectors in the planning process will result in a shared understanding 
of risks. It will also help build widespread support for direc�ng financial, technical, and human resources 

toward natural hazard risk reduc�on. 

ELEMENT B – RISK ASSESSMENT 

The Risk Assessment iden�fies the hazards that can affect jurisdic�ons par�cipa�ng in the mi�ga�on 

plan. It analyzes each of these hazards with respect to where each hazard might affect the planning area 
(loca�on), its poten�al magnitude (extent), how o�en events have happened in the past (previous 

occurrences), how likely they are to occur in the future (future probability); what parts of the community 

are most likely to be affected (vulnerability); and the poten�al consequences (impacts). 

There is no prescribed method for how to present this informa�on, and the loca�on, extent, previous 

occurrences, and future probability can be described or illustrated in a way that sa�sfies all requirements 

together. For example, one map with explanatory text could provide informa�on on some hazards' 

loca�on, extent, and future probability. 

https://www.fema.gov/emergency-managers/national-preparedness/frameworks
https://www.fema.gov/emergency-managers/national-preparedness/frameworks/response
https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/2020-06/national_disaster_recovery_framework_2nd.pdf


2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 5 

Risk Assessments provide the factual basis for ac�vi�es proposed in the strategy to reduce losses from 
iden�fied hazards. Therefore, it is essen�al to use current and accurate informa�on, even if the most 

sophis�cated technology is not available to analyze it. This analysis provides the basis for the ac�ons in 

the Mi�ga�on Strategy, so local risk assessments must provide sufficient informa�on to enable the 

jurisdic�on to iden�fy and priori�ze appropriate mi�ga�on ac�ons to reduce losses from iden�fied 
hazards. Risk Assessments need to clarify the connec�on between the vulnerabili�es iden�fied for 

par�cipa�ng jurisdic�ons and the ac�ons they will take to minimize losses to people and property. 

ELEMENT C – MITIGATION STRATEGY  

The mi�ga�on strategy is the long-term blueprint for reducing the poten�al losses iden�fied in the risk 
assessment. The Stafford Act directs local mi�ga�on plans to describe hazard mi�ga�on ac�ons and 
establish a strategy to implement those ac�ons. Therefore, all other requirements for a local mi�ga�on 
plan lead to and support the mi�ga�on strategy as a means to reduce risk and vulnerabili�es over the 

long term. 

The mi�ga�on strategy includes the development of goals and priori�zed hazard mi�ga�on ac�ons. 

Goals are long-term policy statements and global visions that support the mi�ga�on strategy. A cri�cal 

step in the development of specific hazard mi�ga�on ac�ons and projects is assessing exis�ng 
authori�es, policies, programs, resources, and capabili�es to use or modify local tools to reduce losses 

and vulnerability from profiled hazards. 

For the 2024 Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan, the exis�ng goals and ac�ons are 

either reaffirmed or updated based on current condi�ons. These include comple�ng hazard mi�ga�on 

ini�a�ves, an updated or new risk assessment, or changes in state or local priori�es while adding new 

goals and ac�ons as needed. 

ELEMENT D – PLAN MAINTENANCE 

The mi�ga�on plan is a living document that guides ac�ons over �me. Con�nually documen�ng the 
process makes the next plan update easier. The plan is a blueprint for reducing risk and protec�ng 

community investments. Having a process for maintaining the plan reflects the recogni�on that things 

change. Not only is there a need to track progress on implemen�ng the mi�ga�on strategy, but new 

informa�on may become available, and disasters may happen. The plan needs to be revisited at regular 

intervals to keep it relevant, and the planning team needs to decide how that will be done. At a 

minimum, this must be done every five years, but it should also be done a�er major disaster events or if 

new condi�ons significantly change risk. 

Plan maintenance means keeping the plan accurate, current, and relevant over the five-year approval 

period. It includes monitoring, evalua�ng, and upda�ng the plan – and generally keeping the planning 

process ac�ve. Plan maintenance is cri�cal to ensure par�cipants use the plan to con�nually reduce 

hazard risk. 

ELEMENT E – PLAN UPDATE 



2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 6 

To con�nue to effec�vely represent the jurisdic�on’s overall strategy for reducing its risks from natural 

hazards, the mi�ga�on plan must reflect how current condi�ons have changed since the last plan. This 

will require an assessment of the current development paterns and development pressures, as well as 

an evalua�on of any new hazard or risk informa�on. The plan update is an opportunity for the 

jurisdic�on to assess its previous goals and ac�on plan, evaluate progress in implemen�ng hazard 

mi�ga�on ac�ons, and adjust its ac�ons to address the current realities. 

If growth condi�ons and community priori�es have changed very litle (such as through new leadership, 

new funding sources or recent hazard condi�ons), much of the text in the updated plan may be 

unchanged. This is acceptable as long as the plan s�ll fits the priori�es of the community and reflects the 

current condi�ons. Plan readers can recognize a good plan update by its documenta�on of the 

community’s progress or changes in their hazard mi�ga�on program, along with the community’s 

con�nued engagement in the mi�ga�on planning process. 

Where jurisdic�ons have experienced changes in development (planned, increase or decline), the plan 

update must discuss how development changes have altered vulnerability. If no development changes 

have occurred since the last version of the plan, this must be stated. 

Where hazard risk has not changed significantly, a jurisdic�on may use the update process to review and 

verify exis�ng risk informa�on. The updated risk assessment must document which informa�on has 

been reviewed and remains accurate. 

ELEMENT F – PLAN ADOPTION 

Adop�on by the local governing body or bodies demonstrates the jurisdic�on’s commitment to the 
hazard mi�ga�on goals and ac�ons outlined in the plan. Adop�on legi�mizes the plan and authorizes 

responsible agencies to perform their responsibili�es. Updated plans are adopted anew to demonstrate 

the community’s recogni�on of the current planning process, acknowledge changes from the previous 

five years, and validate the priori�es for hazard mi�ga�on ac�ons. Without adop�on, the jurisdic�on has 

not completed the mi�ga�on planning process and will not be eligible for certain FEMA assistance, such 

as HMA or HHPD grant program funding for mi�ga�on ac�ons.  

ALL ADOPTION RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED WITH PLAN 

Under this op�on, a community with a single-jurisdic�onal plan, or all par�cipa�ng communi�es that are 

part of a mul�-jurisdic�onal plan, include documenta�on of plan adop�on when they ini�ally submit the 

plan to the state for review. This documenta�on is usually a resolu�on by the governing body, but it may 

include any other method of adop�on allowed by local laws. 



2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 7 

The state is responsible for performing an 
ini�al review of the plan before sending it 
to FEMA. This includes checking that each 
jurisdic�on seeking approval par�cipated 
in the planning process and met the 
requirements. A�er receiving the dra� 
plan from the state, FEMA conducts its 
review and will approve the plan if it meets 
all requirements stated in Sec�on 4 of this 

guide. The plan approval date begins the 

five-year approval period and sets the 

expira�on date for the plan. All 

par�cipa�ng jurisdic�ons will have the 

same approval date. The official approval 

date and the plan’s expira�on date are 

both indicated on the signed FEMA 

approval correspondence. 

Under this op�on, the jurisdic�on(s) 

adopt(s) the plan before submi�ng it to 

FEMA. It is important to recognize that the 

state and/or FEMA may require revisions 

to the plan that will change the plan’s final 

content. Jurisdic�ons are encouraged to 

use flexible adop�on resolu�on language 

that leaves room for any required revisions 

that occur a�er adop�on, if local laws 

invalidate the adopted resolu�on language 
used in the plan. If it is not allowable per 
local laws, jurisdic�ons may need to re- 
adopt the plan a�er revisions are made. All 

jurisdic�ons must adopt the plan in 

accordance with local laws and 

regula�ons. 

APPROVABLE PENDING ADOPTION 

Approvable Pending Adop�on (APA) status is used when jurisdic�ons submit the final dra� of a local 
hazard mi�ga�on plan for review prior to formal jurisdic�onal adop�on. The APA status allows FEMA to 
communicate to the plan par�cipant(s) that the plan is ready for adop�on. It is important to note that 
APA is not the same as having an approved plan. To reach approval, all par�cipa�ng jurisdic�ons must 

adopt the plan in accordance with local regula�ons. 

Under this op�on, the state and FEMA review the dra� local mi�ga�on plan. The state is responsible for 

checking that each jurisdic�on seeking approval par�cipated in the planning process and has met all 

requirements except adop�on. Once this is completed, the state sends the plan to FEMA. FEMA then 

Figure 1 shows the two paths that mul�-jurisdic�onal plans 
can follow to achieve approved status: Submission With 

Adop�on Resolu�on(s) and Submission Without Adop�on 

Resolu�on(s). 



2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 8 

completes its review. When FEMA determines that the plan as a whole and each par�cipa�ng 

jurisdic�on has met all the requirements except adop�on, FEMA will inform the state (e.g., by sending 

an electronic communica�on or leter) that the plan is in APA status. The state informs the local 

governments that the plan is in APA status and that local adop�on must be completed for FEMA to 

approve the plan. 

According to 44 CFR § 201.6(a)(4), “Mul�-jurisdic�onal plans may be accepted, as appropriate, as long as 

each jurisdic�on has par�cipated in the process and has officially adopted the plan.” For mul�-
jurisdic�onal plans, FEMA will grant APA status for the plan as a whole when the plan and each 

par�cipa�ng jurisdic�on have met all of the requirements except adop�on (Element F). APA status will 
not be granted to individual jurisdic�ons on a piecemeal basis. If some jurisdic�ons are unable to meet 
all the requirements, the plan submital may include no�fica�on that those jurisdic�ons are not 
par�cipa�ng at that �me. 

Once FEMA receives documenta�on of at least one adop�on resolu�on, the status is changed from APA 
to Approved for the en�re plan and for that jurisdic�on. This status change establishes the start and 

expira�on dates for the plan approval period. Beyond that, it only means that the jurisdic�on that 
provided proof of adop�on is approved; each participating jurisdiction must adopt the plan to be 
approved. 

Par�cipa�ng jurisdic�ons that adopt the plan more than one year a�er APA status has been issued must 

either: 

• Validate that their information in the plan remains current with respect to both the risk 
assessment (no recent hazard events, no changes in development) and their mitigation strategy 
(no changes necessary); or 

• Make the necessary updates before submitting the adoption resolution to FEMA. 
 

The plan approval date begins the five-year approval period and sets the expira�on date for the plan. For 
single and mul�-jurisdic�onal plans, the official plan approval date and plan expira�on date are indicated 
on the official FEMA approval leter. All par�cipa�ng jurisdic�ons in the mul�-jurisdic�onal plan will have 
the same expira�on date regardless of their own jurisdic�on’s adop�on date. The date indicated on 
FEMA’s approval leter is the official approval date. A jurisdic�on with a plan in APA status does not meet 

the requirement for an approved mi�ga�on plan to apply for and receive assistance. 

Figure 1 shows the two paths that mul�-jurisdic�onal plans can follow to achieve approved status: 

Submission With Adop�on Resolu�on(s) and Submission Without Adop�on Resolu�on(s). 

ELEMENT G – HIGH HAZARD POTENTIAL DAMS 

Cri�cal infrastructure like dams and levees provide recrea�on, water supply, floodplain management, 
energy, and other important func�ons. Dam owners and operators can be private, nonprofit, or public. 

They are important par�cipants/stakeholders in local mi�ga�on planning processes. 

The Na�onal Dam Safety Program Act (Pub. L. 92–367), as amended, 33 U.S.C. § 467f-2, authorizes FEMA 

to provide High Hazard Poten�al Dams (HHPD) Rehabilita�on Grant Program assistance for the 

rehabilita�on of dams that fail to meet minimum dam safety standards and pose unacceptable risk to life 



2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 9 

and property. At a minimum, local mi�ga�on plans must address the subset of state-regulated dams 

considered HHPDs.6 The Federal Guidelines for Dam Safety; Hazard Poten�al Classifica�on System7 for 
Dams states that dams assigned the high hazard poten�al classifica�on are those where failure or mis- 
opera�on will probably cause loss of human life. 

Hazard mi�ga�on goals are broad, long-term policy and vision statements. Goals do not need to men�on 

specific ac�ons, specific dams, or use the term “high hazard poten�al dam.” Projects submited for 

considera�on for HHPD funding must be consistent with the goals and ac�ons iden�fied in the current, 

approved hazard mi�ga�on plan. 

NKADD staff is available to present the updated regional hazard mi�ga�on and resolu�on adop�on at a 
future regular mee�ng or provide you with addi�onal informa�on so you can place the resolu�on 

adop�on on your mee�ng agenda. If you have any ques�ons, please don’t hesitate to contact Ka�e Jo 

Kirkpatrick, Strategic Ini�a�ve Manager, at ka�ejo.kirkpatrick@nkadd.org or 859.692.2482.  

 
6 Dams eligible for the HHPD classifica�on have addi�onal requirements and, therefore may not include all HHPDs within the 
local jurisdic�on. This subset of dams is defined at 33 U.S. Code (U.S.C.) § 467(4)(A) and 33 U.S.C. § 467f-2(4). 
7 FEMA/ICODS, 2004 
 

mailto:katiejo.kirkpatrick@nkadd.org


2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 10 

NORTHERN KENTUCKY REGIONAL HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN FAQ 
Why do we need a hazard mi�ga�on plan? 

Developing a hazard mitigation plan helps to:  

• Increase education and awareness of natural hazards and community vulnerabilities 
• Build partnerships with government, organizations, businesses, and the public to reduce risk 
• Identify long-term strategies for risk reduction with input from stakeholders and the public 
• Identify cost-effective mitigation actions that focus resources on the greatest risk areas 
• Integrate planning efforts and risk reduction with other community planning efforts 
• Align risk reduction with other state, tribal or community objectives 
• Communicate priorities to potential funders 

 

What are the benefits of submi�ng a mul�-jurisdic�on regional hazard mi�ga�on plan (MJHMP)? 

Mul�-jurisdic�onal hazard mi�ga�on planning can be an effec�ve process to build partnerships between 

communi�es that face common hazard risks, leading to shared solu�ons. It can also help build a 

founda�on to shi� priori�es as risks and vulnerabili�es change. Hazard mi�ga�on plans are prepared 

and adopted by communi�es with the primary purpose of iden�fying, assessing, and reducing the long-
term risk to life and property from hazard events. Effec�ve mi�ga�on planning can break the cycle of 
disaster damage, reconstruc�on, and repe��ve losses. Hazard mi�ga�on plans can address a range of 

natural and human-caused hazards. Plans can be developed for a single community or as a mul�-
jurisdic�onal plan that includes mul�ple jurisdic�ons and coun�es across a region. 

We are adop�ng a resolu�on to approve the plan before it receives approval from FEMA. What 
happens if FEMA recommend changes a�er you approve the plan? 

By submi�ng the plan for review and approval at the same �me as we are asking jurisdic�ons to 
approve and adopt the plan, the final FEMA approval can be expedited, and communi�es will be able to 

receive mi�ga�on funds from FEMA. The recommenda�ons made by the state and FEMA during the 

review process are similar to the annual updates and thus don’t require reapproval and readop�on of 

the current plan.  

How o�en do we need to adopt a Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan? 

The Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan is a five-year plan. The next complete plan 

update will be due in 2028. Collabora�ng with the local and regional hazard mi�ga�on commitees, 

NKADD staff will provide each jurisdic�on with a yearly status update as outlined in Element D – Plan 
Maintenance.   Star�ng in 2026, staff will work with the local and regional hazard mi�ga�on commitees 

to update the plan for 2028.  

Where can I find the FEMA-approved Northern Kentucky Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan and the yearly 
updates? 

The approved hazard mi�ga�on plan can be found on the NKADD website at 

htps://www.nkadd.org/hazard-mi�ga�on-planning/.

https://www.nkadd.org/hazard-mitigation-planning/


2/22/2024 
 

Plan Adop�on  NKY Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan 11 

SAMPLE HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN RESOLUTION 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT, INCLUDING SPECIAL DISTRICTS), KY RESOLUTION NO. ___________ 

A RESOLUTION OF (LOCAL GOVERNMENT) ADOPTING THE NORTHERN KENTUCKY REGIONAL HAZARD 

MITIGATION PLAN, 2024 

WHEREAS the (local governing body) recognizes the threat that natural hazards pose to people and 
property within (local government); and 

WHEREAS the (local government) has prepared a mul�-hazard mi�ga�on plan, hereby known as the 

Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan, 2024, in accordance with federal laws, including the 

Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, as amended; the Na�onal Flood 

Insurance Act of 1968, as amended; and the Na�onal Dam Safety Program Act, as amended; and 

WHEREAS the Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan, 2024 iden�fies mi�ga�on goals and 

ac�ons to reduce or eliminate long-term risk to people and property in (local government) from the 
impacts of future hazards and disasters and 

WHEREAS adop�on by the (local governing body) demonstrates its commitment to hazard mi�ga�on and 

achieving the goals outlined in the Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan, 2024. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT), KY, THAT: 

Sec�on 1. In accordance with (local rule for adop�ng resolu�ons), the (local governing body) adopts the 

Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mi�ga�on Plan, 2024. While content related to (local government) 

may require revisions to meet the plan approval requirements, changes occurring a�er adop�on will not 

require (local government) to re-adopt any further itera�ons of the plan. Subsequent plan updates 
following the approval period for this plan will require separate adop�on resolu�ons. 

Adopted by a vote of _____ in favor and _____ against, and _____ abstaining, this day of 
_____________ day of _______________, ________. 

 

By:  

  
Signature Printed Name 

ATTEST: By:  

  
Signature Printed Name 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: By:  

  
Signature Printed Name 
 

https://www.fema.gov/about/stafford-act
https://www.fema.gov/about/stafford-act
https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/national-flood-insurance-act-1968.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/national-flood-insurance-act-1968.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/national-flood-insurance-act-1968.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BILLS-104s640enr/pdf/BILLS-104s640enr.pdf


 
 

TREASURER 

REPORT 




































	2024.04.10 Agenda for Commission Meeting 10Apr2024
	MINUTES Divider
	2024.02.27 Special Caucus Meeting Minutes 27Feb024
	2024.03.13 Commission Meeting Minutes 13Mar2024
	2024.03.27 Caucus Meeting Minutes 27March2024
	2024.04.08 Special Commission Meeting Minutes 8April2024
	LEGISLATION Divider
	ORD394~1
	Ordinance 395 - General Loan for Firehouse
	Resolution 382 - NKY Hazard Mitigation Plan
	Resolution 382 - NKY Hazard Mitigation Plan
	Plan Adoption Packet
	2024 Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mitigation Plan
	Plan Overview and Sample Adoption Resolution
	Introduction
	Background
	Summary of Plan
	Element A – Planning Process
	Element B – Risk Assessment
	Element C – Mitigation Strategy
	Element D – Plan Maintenance
	Element E – Plan Update
	Element F – Plan Adoption
	All Adoption Resolutions Submitted with Plan
	Approvable Pending Adoption

	Element G – High Hazard Potential Dams

	Northern Kentucky Regional Hazard Mitigation Plan FAQ
	Sample Hazard Mitigation Plan Resolution



	TREASURER Divider
	Treasurer - Monthly Reports for April 2024



